# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2011-WC-01202-COA

SARAH BRAXTON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

RESORTS CASINO (RESORTS TUNICA)

**APPELLEE** 

**AND** 

AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

**APPELLEE** 

# ON APPEAL FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMEPENSATION COMMISSION AND TUNICA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

# ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

LAWRENCE J. HAKIM, ESQ. MS BAR NO

CHARLIE BAGLAN & ASSOCIATES ATTORNEYS AT LAW 100 Public Square Post Office Box 1289 Batesville, MS 38606 Tel.: (662)563-9400

Fax: (662)563-4633

Email: <u>info@baglanlaw.com</u> Counsel for the Appellant

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether the Order of the Administrative Judge as affirmed by the Full Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission contains error of fact and law and is not supported by substantial evidence and is, in fact, contrary to the law regarding the issues at hand.
- II. Whether the Administrative Judge as affirmed by the Full Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was incorrect in its concluding that the Appellant did not suffer a compensable injury to her right knee while working for Resorts Tunica on September 21, 2007, as that Decision was not supported by law, facts or medical testimony presented at the hearing. The Administrative Judge's finding affirmed by the Full Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was contrary to the law, facts as presented at the hearing and the medical testimony and should therefore be reversed.
- III. Whether the Tunica County Circuit Court erred in affirming the Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission in this matter.

#### I. Statement of the Case

Appellant, SARAH BRAXTON, (hereinafter "Sarah") suffered a compensable injury on September 21, 2007, to her left knee, left hip, right shoulder, and right knee when she fell down a stairwell at work. While the Appellee, (hereinafter "Employer"), provided worker's comp medical benefits, (including surgery), for nine months, as well as temporary-total and temporary-partial disability benefits for the right knee, they ultimately denied treatment and eventually the right knee claim when it became apparent Sarah would need a total right knee replacement.

Consequently, a hearing was held before Honorable Robert J. Arnold, III, Administrative Judge, on August 6, 2009.

At hearing the parties stipulated the following:

- a. That Sarah suffered an on the job injury, September 21, 2007;
- b. That Sarah injured her left knee, left hip and right shoulder;
- c. That Sarah has returned to work post-injury for the pre-injury Employer herein;
- d. Sarah's average weekly wage at the time of her injury was \$380.34 per week;
- e. That Sarah was paid TTD in the amount of \$325.80 for time missed in February, 2008;
- f. TPD was paid in the amount of \$1,683.50 from February 27, 2008 to June 4, 2008

#### The issues were:

- 1.) Whether Sarah suffered an injury to her right knee as a result of the September 21, 2007 incident; and,
- 2.) Whether the current treatment of Sarah's knee, including a possible total/partial knee replacement is reasonable, necessary, and casually related to the fall in September 21, 2007.

On January 14, 2010, the Administrative Judge entered his Order of Administrative Judge, erroneously finding against the overwhelming weight of the evidence that Sarah had

[allegedly] failed to meet her burden of proving she sustained an injury to her right knee, September 21, 2007.<sup>1</sup>

Sarah timely filed her Petition of Review of Order of Administrative Judge and formally requested Oral Argument on same, which the Commission denied.

On August 25, 2010, the Commission affirmed without comment the January 14, 2010 Order of Administrative Judge and Sarah timely perfected her Notice of Appeal of same.

On August 5, 2011 the Tunica County Circuit Court affirmed the Order of the Commission.

#### **II. Background Facts**

At the time of her hearing Sarah was 53 years old and had been employed by the Employer herein for approximately 2 ½ years as a dealer (R.6)<sup>2</sup>

In addition to her employment with the Employer herein, Sarah also works as a bus driver for *ICS* Headstart. (R.8)

At the time of her hearing Sarah's rate of pay was \$5.80 - \$5.90, plus tips. (R. 7) Sarah has worked in the casino industry since 1994 and has a CDL license. (R. 8, 9)

At the time of her hearing Sarah weighed approximately 245 pounds. (R. 50)

Prior to her September 21, 2007 work injury, Sarah was briefly and successfully treated for right knee symptoms at Campbell Clinic. (Gen'l Exh. 1, Deposition of Dr. Gregory Dabov; Gen'l Exh. 2). Significantly, Dr. Dabov, the Commission IME, actually saw and treated Sarah for her right knee on April 21, 2006. This placed Dr. Dabov in an especially advantageous and superior position to testify about the condition of Sarah's knee, pre-injury and post-injury, and to render opinions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Additionally, the Administrative Judge ruled that despite the Employer/Carrier's providing medical treatment to Sarah's right knee, *including surgery*, as well as worker's comp benefits for same, he could "not find where this creates any kind of estoppel." (Order of Administrative Judge at P. 14)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> References to the hearing transcript will be shown as (R.).

regarding the casual connection between Sarah's work injury and the current condition of her right knee. In fact, Sarah's right knee was problem free for approximately seventeen months before her September 21, 2007 work injury. (Id.)

Sarah's injury occurred when she was going back on duty from the break room and fell down a stairwell, landing on the right side of her body. (R. 16) Sarah tried to report her injury to the security guard on duty, but was directed to provide the notice to the security supervisor. (Id.)

Sarah thought she informed security that she had also injured her right knee. (Id.) Due to the shock of the injury, Sarah testified that she might have reported that her left knee was hurting the night of her injury. (R. 21)<sup>3</sup>

Before the Employer/Carrier would provide medical treatment to Sarah, they had her sign a Choice of Physician form for Baptist-DeSoto. (R. 22) However, Sarah thought the form was applicable only for treatment that night and testified without rebuttal that no one at the Casino informed her that she had a choice of physician. (Id.)

Sarah first received treatment at Baptist Memorial Hospital-DeSoto, September 22, 2007. (Gen'l Exh. 4) Those records show that on the night of the injury Sarah was complaining of pain in her left knee and right shoulder. Sarah did testify the following day, after she went to the hospital, that both of her knees were hurting. (R. 25)

Because of her Employer's point system, Sarah returned back to work Monday<sup>4</sup>, but experienced increasing pain in her right knee. (R. 26) During this period of time Sarah attempted to self-treat her injury to the right knee, with icepacks, heating pads, ibuprofen, and even a knee brace that she bought herself. (R. 26-27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Employer/Carrier did not produce any witnesses with direct knowledge of what Sarah verbally reported regarding her injury; nor did they produce any rebuttal testimony to refute Sarah's claim she injured her right knee when she fell down the flight of stairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The injury occurred on a Saturday.

Within a week of her injury Sarah requested medical treatment for her right knee through the Employer's insurance adjuster, Lula McIntyre. (R. 27-28; 31-32) Sarah testified without rebuttal that Ms. McIntyre finally instructed her, "To go back to Baptist-DeSoto. We have a line of physicians that you can go see." At the direction of Ms. McIntyre, Sarah returned to Baptist-DeSoto, January 5, 2008.<sup>5</sup>

The Employer/Carrier directed Sarah to orthopedic surgeon, John Lochemes, M.D. (Gen.1 Exh. 2) Dr. Lochemes first saw Sarah on January 9, 2008. Dr. Lochemes took x-rays of the right knee, which showed only minimal degenerative changes. Dr. Lochemes initially diagnosed Sarah with mild right knee sprain. (Id.)

Sarah returned six days later and Dr. Lochemes ordered an MRI of the right knee, which was done, January 30, 2008. Said MRI showed a peripheral tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. As a result of the MRI findings, Dr. Lochemes performed a partial medial menisectomy and chondroplasty of the patella on February 28, 2008. His surgical notes reflect that Sarah had a "significant size tear, …, which was more irregular and significant than the MRI suggested." Following surgery, Dr. Lochemes had Sarah off work and ordered physical therapy for her. (Id.)

On March 5, 2008, Dr. Lochemes stated that Sarah could continue in sedentary work if a wheel chair was made available to her due to the problems Sarah was having getting from her vehicle to her work duties.<sup>6</sup> (Id.)

On March 12, 2008, Sarah returned to Dr. Lochemes' office complaining of pain and swelling in her right knee. On that visit 38 cc's of fluid were aspirated from Sarah's right knee. (Id.) This in fact was the very first time that any doctor had removed fluid from Sarah's knee. (R. 40) On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While waiting for workers' comp approval to see another doctor, Sarah sought and received treatment from Lydia Franklin, F.N.P., who saw Sarah, December 17, 2007, noting, "knee pain for the past few days that was not getting any better." (Gen'l Exh. 3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This light duty consisted of "folding laundry." In addition to severe difficulties getting to and from her work station, Sarah was having difficulties getting to and from the bathroom. (R. 38-39)

April 2, 2008, Dr. Lochemes aspirated 60 cc's of fluid from Sarah's right knee. He also began a series of joint fluid replacement injections, called Supartz injections on that visit. (Gen'l Exh. 3; R. 41)

Dr. Lochemes' records reflect that Sarah returned to him several times in April, 2008, complaining of pain and swelling in her right knee. (Id.) On those visits Dr. Lochemes administered supartz injections and also aspirated more fluid from Sarah's right knee. (Id.) On June 4, 2008, and for the first time, Dr. Lochemes diagnosed Sarah with osteoarthritis in her right knee. Dr. Lochemes wrote that the osteoarthritis was unrelated to Sarah's on the job work injury. (Id.)

Sarah returned to Dr. Lochemes on August 6, 2008, complaining of continued pain and swelling in her right knee. She also reported that her left knee and back were beginning to hurt. *For the first time*, Dr. Lochemes diagnosed Sarah with patella tendonitis. (Id.)

Because of Sarah's continued severe symptoms a second MRI was ordered. Dr. Lochemes' August 13, 2008 office note interprets the MRI as showing:

"Medial joint space narrowing and patella femoral changes, that is in addition to, they said, an atypical appearance of the posterior medial meniscus that we resected. We knew the posterior medial meniscus, it's of course the peripheral portion, is abnormal. Whether or not there is an unstable fragment back there remains [sic] is certainly a question."

The actual MRI narrative report states:

"There is near — complete absence of the mid and posterior horn of the medial meniscus with an irregular posterior fragment identified. The history of the patient has had meniscectomy here, but this does not have the normal post — meniscectomy appearance."

Said MRI further describes:

"Advanced degenerative changes, medial joint compartment, as well as degenerative changes of the patella femoral joint."

Dr. Lochemes last saw Sarah, September 24, 2008, and at that time he recommended a total knee replacement. (Id.)

Following Sarah's final visit with Dr. Lochemes the Employer/Carrier thereafter denied Sarah any further medical treatment for her right knee injury. Sarah filed a Motion to Compel Medical Treatment. Then presiding Administrative Judge, Honorable Mark Henry, ordered an Independent Medical Examination with Campbell Clinic. Consequently, Sarah underwent an IME with orthopedic knee specialist, Gregory Dabov, M.D. at Campbell Clinic. (Gen'l Exh. 1, Gen'l Exh. 12) Dr. Dabov noted the following:

This is a 52 year old female, who I actually saw back in April, 2006 for knee pain. We were able to calm things down. She was doing okay. She did not have great knees, but certainly nothing, at that time, seemed to be operative, that she was doing okay. She sustained a work injury while on the job on September 21, 2007. She was seen initially at the Baptist-DeSoto emergency room. She was an employee of the Resorts Casino in Tunica. Since that injury she has been treated by Dr. John Lochemes, who got her other areas calmed down, but her knee continued to be painful. He obtained a MRI which some medial meniscus tear. He performed a medial menisectomy and has continued to follow her. It has now been over a year since the surgery. She continues to have knee pain and difficulty with walking. It doesn't look like she has recently been on anti-inflammatory medications. She was recently placed on a dose pack by Dr. Baldwin at the Woman's Clinic and this has calmed things down for her to some degree. She has been through a number of Cortisone injections, as well as a Hyaluronic Acid series since her surgery and none of this has given her much benefit. Dr. Lochemes last saw Sarah in September, 2008, and felt that there was really not much more that he could do and recommended a total knee arthoplasty. She is here because there is some question by the insurance company as to whether or

The Medical Records Affidavit of Campbell Clinic, (Gen'l Exh. 12), indicates Sarah sough treatment for bi-lateral knee pain, July 16, 2001. On that visit she was seen by Dr. Robert Pickering, who diagnosed her with patellafemoral arthritis. She returned to Dr. Pickering, August 13, 2001, and on that occasion he injected her right knee with a steroid lidocaine and marcaine mix. On Sarah's next visit to Campbell Clinic she was seen by Dr. Gregory Dabov, (later to be the Commission IME), April 21, 2006. His records reflect that following Dr. Pickering's injection in August, 2001, Sarah's right knee was pain free for at least four years. X-rays on that visit only showed mild arthritic changes and Dr. Dabov's diagnosis was internal derangement of the right knee with some patellafemoral syndrome. His treatment plan consisted of therapy, a depo-medrol marcaine injection, and anti-inflammatory medication as needed. According to Dr. Dabov's records and deposition testimony, as well as the unrebutted testimony of Sarah, herself, Dr. Dabov's conservative treatment plan was successful and Sarah had no further problems in her right knee until her admittedly compensable September 21, 2007, fall down the stairwell at work.

not it is their responsibility to cover this knee problem and whether or not it is related to her injury. She is here for my evaluation today.

Dr. Dabov ordered x-rays, which showed "significant medial compartmental disease with near bone on bone arthritic change. These x-rays are markedly different in comparison with her x-rays obtained in April, 2006. Her April, 2006 x-rays show absolutely no medial joint space collapse."

Dr. Dabov's diagnosis was osteoarthritis of the right knee status, post-medial meniscectomy. Dr. Dabov concluded,

"It is my belief with a high degree of medical certainty that her current x-rays and current condition of her knee is directly related to her injury which occurred in September, 2007. We have irrefutable documentation with radiographs that shows advancement of her arthritis. It is my belief that this is directly related to her meniscectomy, which was medically necessary and performed by Dr. Lochemes. This is not an uncommon occurrence for patients to develop arthritis status post meniscectomy."

"Given Ms. Braxton's x-rays and clinical appearance, I think she would be a good candidate for a partial knee replacement."

The Employer/Carrier took Dr. Dabov's deposition on March 2, 2009. Dr. Dabov reinforced his opinion that Sarah's ongoing right knee problems and need for surgery were related to her original injury.

"The injury got her into the condition that she had a painful knee that could not be managed non-operatively and then required an operation. That operation unfortunately as it is not infrequently, was not successful. It is my belief that that surgery then helped her arthritis progress, which we see, ...., quite frequently. Where after surgery, then we start to see the arthritis really start to collapse, and we get markedly different x-rays in a matter of two years from x-rays that I obtained in April of 2006 compared to November of 2008, which were markedly different where somebody would consider either total joint replacement or as I recommended in my notes, ..., a partial knee replacement."

(Gen'l Exh. 1 at p. 34-35)

With regard to no mention of the right knee in the initial incident reports and September 22, 2007 records from Baptist Memorial Hospital-DeSoto, Dr. Dabov explained:

"She had this fall and by the time she was referred to the orthopedic surgeon, her main complaint was her right knee, ..., it is not uncommon for people that are in car accidents or have these falls to initially complain of some areas. Then a few days later they come back and say, well, man, since things have kind of calmed down in these other areas, my other - - this other joint or - - or condition seems to be really bothered and I'm not - - I'm having trouble with that, so it's - - that we do see all the time."

(Gen'l Exh. 1 at P. 35-36) Sarah still experiences significant problems in her right knee:

"I wear a knee brace everyday of my life. And when I take the knee brace off, it's just so much pain in my knee. It's like a knife sticking in it in certain areas. And when I go home at night - - I've got an icepack and I've got a heating pad, and I put the icepack on it some nights and then I put the heating pad on it and I have like a cushion - - when I go to bed, I prop my knee up on it at night, and that's how I sleep at night most of the time, and sometimes the knee brace don't [stop the pain, and I am constantly taking ibuprofen and everything else,...(R. 49)

# III. Summary of the Argument

Over forty years of case law precedent demonstrates that the applicable standard of review is not a straight jacket on the process of appellate review of worker's compensation claims. Appellate review in the instant case is to be flexible and nuanced in order to ensure the Commission has properly and evenly considered <u>all</u> the facts, has correctly applied the pertinent law to the facts and has done so in compliance with the mandate that the Comp Act be interpreted liberally, for the injured worker in order to achieve the Act's consistent beneficent purpose. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is required to resolve issues of doubt in favor of the injured worker.

In the instant case the overwhelming weight of the lay and medical evidence and testimony supports only one conclusion: that Sarah, in fact, injured her right lower extremity, falling down the stairs at work.

The testimony of record is <u>uncontroverted</u> that within days of her injury, Sarah was in repeated contact with the adjuster seeking treatment for her right knee, which was injured in the fall. Mississippi Case Law properly applied to the facts of this case requires reversal of the Commission's decision, which on all points was erroneous and prejudicial to the Appellant.

# IV. Law and Discussion

#### A. Standard of Review

An appellate court must reverse a decision of the Commission if, a.) said decision is not based on substantial evidence, b.) is arbitrary or capricious, c.) is based on an erroneous application of the law, d.) was beyond the power of the Commission to make, or e.) if it violates a statutory or constitutional right of the Appellant. Smith v. Jackson Construction Co., 607 So. 2d 119, 1124 (Miss. 1992); Piney Woods Country Life School v. Young, 946 So. 2d. 805 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

A decision is said to be based on substantial evidence if it is not clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Piney Woods Country Life School at 807. Even though the Commission is the ultimate fact finder, the appellate court will reverse when the findings of the Commission are based on a mere scintilla of evidence that goes against the overwhelming weight of evidence. DiGrazia v. Parkplace Entertainment, 914 So. 2d 1232 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The substantial evidence rule is sufficiently flexible to permit an appellate court to examine the record as a whole and where such record reveals that the Order of the Commission is based on a mere scintilla of evidence and is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the court will not hesitate to reverse. Smith v. Commercial Trucking Co., Inc. and USF&G, 742 So. 2d 1082, 1085 (Miss. 1999).

An appellate court has the power to broaden the Commission's authority to meet the munificent purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act and there is a broad public policy behind the act to provide the necessary treatment to restore the injured worker to health and productivity. 742 So. 2d at 1087.

If the Workers' Compensation Commission commits prejudicial error, the appellate court does not need to defer to Commission decisions on issues of fact and credibility. <u>Barber Seafood</u>, <u>Inc. v. Smith</u>, 911 So. 2d 454 (Miss. 2005).

Where the Commission merely affirms the Administrative Law Judge's decision, the appellate court must examine the findings of fact made by the Administrative Judge as those of the Commission. McDowell v. Smith, 856 So. 2d 581 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

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