IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2011-WC-01202-COA

SARAH BRAXTON

APPELLANT

V.

RESORTS CASINO (RESORTS TUNICA)

APPELLEE

AND

AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION AND TUNICA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

Courtney Leyes Tomlinson, MSB
Gary P. Snyder, MS
JONES, WALKER, WAECHTER, POITEVENT,
CARRÈRE & DENÈGRE L.L.P.
Attorneys for the Employer/Carrier
6897 Crumpler Blvd., Suite 100
P.O. Box 1456
Olive Branch, MS 38654
Telephone:662-895-2996

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2011-WC-01202-COA

SARAH BRAXTON

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

"A reviewing court commits error if it simply re-weighs the evidence and substitutes its judgment for that of the Commission." *Lifestyle Furnishings v. Tollison*, 985 So. 2d 352, 358 (¶ 17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (internal citations omitted). When conducting the limited review of the evidence in the record, it is not this Court's role "to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies when the evidence is conflicting, [since] it is presumed that the Commission, as trier of fact, has previously determined which evidence is credible and which is not." *Johnston Tombigbee Furniture*, 43 So. 3d at 1164 (¶ 16)(quoting *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687

So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss. 1997) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court of Appeals exercises *de novo* review on matters of law. *Tew*, 2010 WL 4609212 (¶ 18) (citing *KLLM*, *Inc.* v. Fowler, 589 So. 2d 670, 675 (Miss. 1991)).

B. MS. BRAXTON IS UNABLE TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HER RIGHT KNEE INJURY IS RELATED TO HER ACCIDENT AT RESORTS CASINO.

Even though medical evidence is to be given liberal construction and that doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of compensation, the Commission is called upon to apply "common knowledge, common experience and common sense" when weighing the evidence. *Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Stuart*, 856 So. 2d 431, 436 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted). However, "[t]he adherence to a liberal standard does not avoid the requirement that the [Ms. Braxton] must offer proof in order to recover." *Id.* at 436. This proof of causal connection "must rise above mere possibility." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). Under this standard, the Commission correctly determined that Ms. Braxton did not injure her right knee on September 21, 2007.

Ms. Braxton quotes *Moore v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co.* in her brief: "Even though medical testimony may be somewhat ambiguous as to causal connection, all that is necessary is that the medical findings support a causal connection." 788 So. 2d 106, 112 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); see also Ms. Braxton's Brief at pp. 13. Although this appears to be a *de minimus* standard, such a causal connection cannot be based upon a false record that is unsupported by documentation. Ms. Braxton attempts to argue that the Commission's findings were erroneous by failing to consider the following evidence when it determined whether her right knee injury was unrelated to her on-the-job accident: 1) a self-serving statement that she reported her right-knee injury to her employer one week after the accident; 2) a post-operative note by Dr. Lochemes in which he opined that Ms. Braxton injured her right knee in September 2007; and 3)

Dr. Dabov's report that her right knee injuries were related to her on-the-job accident on September 21, 2007. As discussed below, the evidence articulated by Ms. Braxton is not enough to warrant reversal of the Commission's order, as these bases do not establish a causal connection between Ms. Braxton's right knee injury and the accident on September 21, 2007. Moreover, the evidence articulated by Ms. Braxton is inaccurate without any factual basis and is flawed.

1. Ms. Braxton's self-serving statement.

In a footnote in her brief, Ms. Braxton attacks Resorts Casino, stating: "[Resorts Casino] did not produce any witnesses with direct knowledge of what [Ms. Braxton] verbally reported regarding her injury; nor did they produce any rebuttal testimony to refute [Ms. Braxton's] claim she injured her right knee when she fell down the flight of stairs." *See* Ms. Braxton's Brief at pp. 3, nn.3. However, this Court should not afford any credence to Ms. Braxton's self serving statement as it is contradicted by the pertinent medical records, her medical history, and her December 2007 visit to Nurse Franklin. Based on her medical history, Ms. Braxton has had bilateral knee pain on and off for the six (6) years prior to the subject accident. *See* Volume III at Exhibits #3, #12. In April 2006, she saw Dr. Pickering at Campbell Clinic with complaints of right knee pain. *Id.* at Exhibit 12. As the Administrative Judge aptly concluded: "Her pain in 2006 and before was . . . insidious, meaning there was no inciting or traumatic event that caused the pain." *See* Administrative Judge's Order at pp. 100, attached to the Record as Pleading Volume I.

The next records mentioning right knee trouble were from Nurse Franklin on December 17, 2007, almost three (3) months after the accident. See Volume III at Exhibit #3. In her notes, Nurse Franklin states that Ms. Braxton complained of right knee pain and that she had been having symptoms for the past few days. Id. Nowhere in Nurse Franklin's note did she mention a

fall in September 2007 or Ms. Braxton injuring her right knee in September 2007. *Id.* The fact that Ms. Braxton had been diagnosed with insidious pain in her right knee just over one year prior to the subject accident and the first notation of right knee pain after the accident occurred in December 2007 (with pain in the right knee over the past few days prior to her visit) sheds some light on the disingenuousness of Ms. Braxton's testimony. Stated another way, even if Ms. Braxton statement were true, why did she not mention to Nurse Franklin that she had been suffering pain in her right knee for the past few months not the past few days? As the Administrative Judge so aptly noted, "It is difficult to believe [the Emergency Room] x-rayed the left knee and that [Appellant] would not have called it to their attention if her right knee was actually the knee hurting from the fall." See Volume I at pp. 96.

2. Dr. Lochemes's post-operative note.

In her brief, Ms. Braxton asserts that Dr. Lochemes, in a post-operative note dated February 29, 2008, "clearly opined that [Ms. Braxton] injured her right knee in September 2007, when she fell down a flight of stairs at work, which required the February 2008 surgery." See Ms. Braxton's Brief at pp. 9. The Commission rightfully afforded no weight to Dr. Lochemes' post-operative note as Ms. Braxton gave him the history that she injured her right knee in September 2007, when she first saw him in January 2008. Such analysis based on an inaccurate statement of the facts was exposed when Dr. Dabov was asked to defend his opinion which was based on this post-operative note in his deposition.

3. Dr. Dabov's opinion.

Ms. Braxton defends Dr. Lochemes's opinion in her brief, arguing that it was "not her duty to present her previous records and history to Dr. Lochemes; it was the duty of the [the Appellees]." This argument completely misses the point as it does not matter whose fault it was for failing to give Dr. Lochemes her complete medical record. What matters is that Dr. Lochemes rendered an opinion in February 2008 regarding Ms. Braxton's injury based on a self-serving statement given to him many months after her fall. Such an opinion is not reliable.

In *Airtran, Inc. v. Byrd*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated that when examining a doctor's testimony in regards to the causation issue, one must ask: "From the *whole* of the doctor's testimony, what is the real substance he stated concerning causal connection?" 953 So. 2d 296, 299 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (emphasis added). While Dr. Dabov's innocuous opinion may appear to establish causation, when examined in its entirety, it does not establish that Ms. Braxton's right knee injury is related to her September 21, 2007 accident. Although he gave the opinion that Ms. Braxton's current condition and need for treatment was related to Ms. Braxton's September 2007 fall, he acknowledged that he based his opinion on the history given to him by Ms. Braxton. Moreover, since Dr. Dabov had only seen the records from Dr. Lochemes, he was working under the faulty assumption that her right knee had been injured in her fall. The Administrative Judge correctly concluded:

By the end of his deposition [Dr. Dabov's] opinion on the causation was not as clear or as strong. He agreed that there was some question in tying the right knee pain to the original injury. He noted it would not be uncommon for someone to have a fall and initially complain of pain in some areas and then notice some problem in other areas and a few days later. He also said that it is possible not to notice the injury right away due to other injuries. In the end he could not say with probability when the injury to the right knee occurred.

See Volume I at pp. 101 (emphasis added). The "whole" of Dr. Dabov's opinion was not the unequivocal opinion Ms. Braxton describes in her brief.

C. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT THE RIGHT KNEE INJURY IS UNRELATED.

In her brief, Ms. Braxton assumes that Resorts Casino is arguing the right knee is not covered because: 1) Ms. Braxton had prior problems with her right knee; or 2) Resorts Casino is prejudiced by her lag in reporting the injury. Resorts Casino is arguing neither. Rather, Resorts Casino is arguing Ms. Braxton's right knee injury is not covered because it is completely unrelated to her on-the-job accident in September 2007, and the Commission and Administrative

Judge agreed. Ms. Braxton's inability to demonstrate causation between her right knee injury and her on-the-job accident support this conclusion. First, in Dr. Dabov's deposition, he claimed that it was possible that a patient, after suffering a fall, may have new injuries manifest within a few days of the fall. See Volume III at Exhibit #1. In Ms. Braxton's case, it was a few months after the fall. This is supported by medical records from December 2007 from Nurse Franklin in which Nurse Franklin noted that Ms. Braxton had been having pain in her right knee over the past few days. See Volume III at Exhibit #3.

Ms. Braxton also misapplies the law regarding future injuries that are related to the onthe-job injury to the facts of her own case. It is true an employer remains liable to a worker's
compensation claimant for subsequent injuries related to a prior work-related injury. However,
Ms. Braxton assumes this axiom encompasses future injuries to different body parts than what
injuries were alleged initially. The case law, however, does not support Ms. Braxton's
assumption. See Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Fowler, 755 So. 2d 1182 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
(holding credible evidence supported Commission's decision that claimant's back injury,
sustained while brushing her hair, was part of a continuous chain of back problems that arose
from pre-existing back condition that manifested itself due to a work related back injury); A.F.
Leis Co. v. Harrell, 743 So. 2d 1059 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (connecting a subsequent left knee
injury from jumping on a trampoline to an earlier employment-related left knee injury). While
the claimants in Fowler and Harrell suffered subsequent issues to the same body part that was
injured on the job, Ms. Braxton is now claiming a totally different body part.

Likewise, Ms. Braxton's likening her case to White v. Mississippi Department of Corrections is quite a stretch as White can easily be distinguished from Ms. Braxton's situation. 28 So. 3d 619 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). In White, the claimant injured her lower back when she

slipped and fell against the back of a toilet while she was at work. *Id.* Although she did not initially report the lower back injury as workers compensation related, she did do so less than two (2) months after the accident. *Id.* Ms. Braxton, on the other hand, initially reported a *left* knee injury and then three months later complained of an injury to a totally different body part.

Rather, the recently handed down case, Ball v. Ashley Furniture Industries, from the Mississippi Court of Appeals, is instructive to Ms. Braxton's case. See Ball v. Ashley Furniture Inds., No. 2010-WC-01627-COA (Miss. Ct. App. Oct. 11, 2011). In the Ball case, Ms. Ball suffered injuries, in part, to her right knee after she slipped and fell while working at Ashley Furniture. Id. at (\P 2). Even though the physician she saw in the emergency room the day following her fall noted there were no fractures or obvious abnormalities with her knee, she met with another physician, Dr. Johnny Mitias ("Dr. Mitias"), alleging continued right knee pain. Id. Just two months after her fall, Dr. Mitias reviewed an MRI of Ms. Ball's knee and determined she "suffered from early patella femoral compartment degeneration, pre-existing, degenerative condition in her right knee." Id. Further, Dr. Mitias reported that Ms. Ball's condition, while not wholly or directly related to her work injury, would continue to worsen due to the degenerative process. Id. Nevertheless, Dr. Mitias concluded his report by releasing Ms. Ball to work, regular duty, with a zero-percent impairment rating. Id. Ms. Ball subsequently filed a petition to controvert against Ashley Furniture for workers' compensation payments related to her ongoing disability in her right knee. Id. After reviewing the evidence, the Administrative Judge concluded "that the injury was a temporary aggravation of [Ms.] Ball's preexisting, degenerative condition and that the temporary aggravation ended . . . when Dr. Mitias released [Ms.] Ball back to work with a zero-percent impairment rating." Id. at (¶ 7). These findings were affirmed by the Commission, the Pontotoc County Circuit Court, and the Mississippi Court of Appeals. *Id.* at (¶ 8).

Like Ms. Ball, Ms. Braxton was released to work without any restrictions just two days following her fall at Resorts Casino. Therefore, even if she complained of pain to her right knee at that time, which she did not, that pain had arguably resolved within days of her injury, given her returning to work full duty. Therefore, like Ms. Ball, Ms. Braxton's visits related to any right knee injury in December 2007 and January 2008, cannot and are not related to her fall at the casino on September 21, 2007. Therefore, Resorts Casino and the Carrier were not responsible for Ms. Braxton's medical treatment beyond September 22, 2007.

Despite Ms. Braxton's insistence that her testimony has been "beyond a shadow of a doubt," her testimony throughout this case has been anything but. The Commission, being the ultimate judge of the credibility of the witnesses, agreed. *Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith*, 911 So. 2d 454 (¶27) (Miss. 2005). Because there was substantial evidence supporting the Commission's decision, this Court should affirm the Commission's order.

D. MS. BRAXTON'S PROPOSED JOINT RIGHT KNEE REPLACEMENT IS NOT RELATED TO THE FALL ON SEPTEMBER 21, 2007.

Just as the Administrative Judge noted in his order, because Ms. Braxton is unable to prove that her right knee was injured on September 21, 2007, the issue of whether any future medical care of the right knee is related is moot. The Commission affirmed this finding in its order. However, even if this Court wishes to entertain Ms. Braxton's argument, substantial evidence shows that Ms. Braxton's proposed right knee replacement is not related to her fall on September 21, 2007. Although on its face it appears that two doctors are giving conflicting testimony (Drs. Lochemes and Dabov), one opinion, given by Dr. Lochemes, is unequivocal, and Dr. Dabov's opinion was replete with caveats and uncertainty. As such, this Court should affirm

the Commission's order denying any proposed future medical treatment of Ms. Braxton's right knee.

For the first time on appeal, Ms. Braxton argues that even if Ms. Braxton did not injure her right knee in the subject accident, "the carrier nonetheless and after investigating the claim, provided nine months of medical treatment for the right knee, including a meniscectomy surgery. The overwhelming medical evidence from the Commission IME, Dr. Dabov, is that [Ms. Braxton] became a candidate for knee replacement surgery as a direct result of the meniscus surgery the Carrier approved." *See* Ms. Braxton's Brief at pp. 19. However, Dr. Lochemes, whose opinion was relied upon by the Administrative Judge, provided an unequivocal opinion to the contrary.

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